ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Breuer, Thomas; Summer, Martin

Working Paper Systematic Systemic Stress Tests

Working Paper, No. 225

Provided in Cooperation with: Oesterreichische Nationalbank (OeNB), Vienna

Suggested Citation: Breuer, Thomas; Summer, Martin (2018) : Systematic Systemic Stress Tests, Working Paper, No. 225, Oesterreichische Nationalbank (OeNB), Vienna

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/264817

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



WORKING PAPER 225

Systematic Systemic Stress Tests

Thomas Breuer, Martin Summer

The Working Paper series of the Oesterreichische Nationalbank is designed to disseminate and to provide a platform for discussion of either work of the staff of the OeNB economists or outside contributors on topics which are of special interest to the OeNB. To ensure the high quality of their content, the contributions are subjected to an international refereeing process. The opinions are strictly those of the authors and do in no way commit the OeNB.

The Working Papers are also available on our website (http://www.oenb.at) and they are indexed in RePEc (http://repec.org/).

Publisher and editor	Oesterreichische Nationalbank		
	Otto-Wagner-Platz 3, 1090 Vienna, Austria		
	PO Box 61, 1011 Vienna, Austria		
	www.oenb.at		
	oenb.info@oenb.at		
	Phone (+43-1) 40420-6666		
	Fax (+43-1) 40420-046698		
Editorial Board of the Working Papers	Doris Ritzberger-Grünwald, Ernest Gnan, Martin Summer		
Coordinating editor	Martin Summer		
Design	Communications and Publications Division		
DVR 0031577			
ISSN 2310-5321 (Print) ISSN 2310-533X (Online)			

© Oesterreichische Nationalbank, 2018. All rights reserved.

Systematic Systemic Stress Tests*

Thomas Breuer[†] Martin Summer[‡]

December 3, 2018

Abstract

For a given set of banks, which economic and financial scenarios will lead to big losses? How big can losses in such scenarios possibly get? These are the two central questions of macro stress tests. We believe that most current macro stress testing models have deficits in answering these questions. They select stress scenarios in a way which might leave aside many dangerous scenarios and thus create an illusion of safety; and which might consider highly implausible scenarios and thus trigger a false alarm. With respect to loss evaluation most stress tests do not include tools to analyse systemic risk arising from the interactions of banks with each other and with the markets. We make a conceptual proposal how these shortcomings may be addressed and how stress tests could be made both systematic and systemic. We demonstrate the application of our concepts using publicly available data on European banks and capital markets, in particular the EBA 2016 stress test results.

Keywords: Stress Testing, Risk Measures, Scenario Analysis, Systemic Risk JEL-Classification Numbers: C18, C44, C60, G01, G32, M48

^{*}We thank Rama Cont, Simon Gächter, Michael Gordy, Manuel Mayer, Paul Mizen, Ralph Spitzer, Claus Puhr, Eric Schaaning and Branko Urošević for helpful comments. Feedback from seminar participants at the University of Nottingham, TU Kaiserslautern and OeNB are gratefully appreciated. We specially thank Martin Jandačka for his help and support in computing worst case scenarios.

[†]Thomas Breuer, University of Applied Sciences Vorarlberg, Josef Ressel Center for Scientific Computing in Energy, Finance and Logistics, Hochschulstraße 1, A-6850 Dornbirn, Austria, E-mail: thomas.breuer(AT)fhv.at, Tel: +43-5572-792-7100, Fax: +43-5572-792-9510.

[†]Martin Summer, Oesterreichische Nationalbank, Economic Studies Division, Otto-Wagner-Platz 3, A-1090 Wien, Austria, E-mail: martin.summer(AT)oenb.at, Tel: +43-1-40420-7200, Fax: +43-1-40420-7299

Non technical summary

This paper makes a concrete proposal to improve scenario selection as well as loss evaluation in solvency stress testing of banks and banking systems. The motivation for making such a proposal is that we believe that these improvements are needed because current stress testing methodologies fail to systematically identifying dangerous but plaubible scenarios. They also largly neglect important sources of losses that are due to behavioral responses of banks to changes in their economic environment.

We believe that systematic scenario identification is one methodological aspect of stress testing that should have a high priority. Current stress testing methods concentrate mainly on loss evaluation. Stress scenarios are discussed in an involved and opaque bureaucratic process, which is often highly politicised. The outcome consists of one or two stress scenarios. Then a complex loss evaluation procedure follows, involving supervisors as well as banks to find out the amount of potential impairments in these two scenarios.

Proceeding in this way the stress test may leave aside other dangerous scenarios which have never been considered and create an illusion of safety. It also bears the danger of considering scenarios which are very implausible. This may create a false sense of alarm.

When it comes to loss evaluation in potential scenarios, current stress testing methodology is mainly focussed on losses arising form exogenous risk sources. Experience from past crisis has shown that a large bulk of losses in financial distress arise from endogenous sources, amplifiers of shocks that are driven by the interaction and interconnectedness of banks. This part of loss mechanisms is often referred to as systemic risk.

We make two concrete proposals how to select stress scenarios systematically and how to take into account losses stemming from bank behavior that may amplify losses in distress situations. Using public data from the EBA 2016 stress testing exercise and including other publicly available data sources we develop a simple example, which serves the role of a proof of concept of our ideas. Compared with the standard approach currently used in the EBA stress test, we show that systematic scenario selection and loss evaluation augmented by systemic risk considerations significantly changes the relevant risk assessment.

Contents

1	Introduction	4
2	Stress Testing: Basic Concepts	5
	2.1 Stress Tests: Key concepts	5
	2.2 Generalized Scenarios	6
3	Systematic generalized stress scenarios: Improving Stress	
	Scenario Selection	8
4	Taking into account systemic risk: Improving loss assess-	
	ment	12
5	An EBA-based example	13
	5.1 Systematic scenario search	13
	5.2 Fire sales	18
6	Conclusions	22
Re	eferences	23
\mathbf{A}	How plausible is the EBA stress scenario relative to the EBA	
	baseline scenario?	24

1 Introduction

Stress testing of banks is a form of economic and financial scenario analysis with one key question: Which plausible scenarios lead to losses that are able to substantially impair a bank or the financial system? An anwser requires identifying dangerous scenarios by evaluating potential losses in a systematic way.

We claim that current stress testing methodologies need to be improved because they fail in systematically identifying dangerous and plausible scenarios. We propose an approach which delivers a systematic identification of plausible stress scenarios.

We believe that systematic scenario identification is one methodological aspect of stress testing that should have a high priority. Current stress testing methods concentrate mainly on loss evaluation. Stress scenarios are discussed in an involved and opaque bureaucratic process, which is often highly politicised. The outcome consists of one or two stress scenarios. Then a complex loss evaluation procedure follows, involving supervisors as well as banks to find out the amount of potential impairments in these two scenarios.

Proceeding in this way the stress test may leave aside other dangerous scenarios which have never been considered and create an illusion of safety. It also bears the danger of considering scenarios which are very implausible. This may create a false sense of alarm.

When it comes to loss evaluation in potential scenarios, current stress testing methodology is mainly focussed on losses arising form exogenous risk sources. Experience from past crisis has shown that a large bulk of losses in financial distress arise from endogenous sources, amplifiers of shocks that are driven by the interaction and interconnectedness of banks. This part of loss mechanisms is often referred to as systemic risk.

Many stress testing models currently in use are usually not considering systemic risk in evaluating losses. One reason for this might stem from the fact that the literature has discussed many different concepts, without coming to a clear definition of systemic risk or a prioritization of its main mechanisms, see Fouque and Langsam [2013]. We argue that the literature has now moved to a new frontier and that it offers some tractable ways of including systemic risk in an otherwise traditional stress test. We point to one particular framework in the recent literature which we find very promising and show in an example how it can be integrated into the overall model.

Our paper is mainly related to the literature on quantitative risk management (McNeil et al. [2015]), coherent risk measures (Artzner et al. [1999]), model risk (Studer [1997], Studer [1999], Breuer and Krenn [1999], Breuer and Csiszár [2013], Breuer and Csiszár [2016]), fire sale modelling (Cont and Schaanning [2016], Cont and Wagalath [2013], Cont and Wagalath [2016], Braouezec and Wagalath [forthcoming]) and reverse stress testing (Glassermann et al. [2014], Flood and Korenko [2015]). The literature on quantitative risk management is mainly focussed on statistical risk measurement. There the question is: What is the probability of big losses and how much capital is needed to make this probability sufficiently small? By contrast, in a stress test we ask: Which are the scenarios that lead to big losses? The answer to the stress testing question suggests risks reducing actions. Our paper is related to the coherent risk measure literature because our procedure of systematic scenario selection builds on a coherent risk measure. For our approach to scenario selection we need the concept of a generalized scenario, which builds on various contributions to the literature on model risk. For the systemic risk part we build on recent contributions to the literature on quantitative modeling of deleveraging processes and price impact. In contrast to the reverse stress testing literature, which usually starts from a given hypothetical loss and asks which are the most plausible scenarios generating this loss, we look for the stress scenarios in a different way.

Our paper is also related to the various efforts by stress testing practicioners of developing modern stress testing frameworks, such as the Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review Process (CCAR), the Dodd-Frank-Act-Stress Tests (DFAST), the Stress tests of the European Banking authority (EBA) or the stress testing framework of the Bank of England and other major central banks. Our ideas on systematic and systemic stress tests are compatible with all of these approaches.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the basic concepts of stress testing and discusses a useful generalisation of the concept of a scenario. This discussion plays an important role in Section 3 where we describe our proposal for finding stress scenarios in a systematic way. Section 4 discusses how we can combine our stress testing framework with a loss evaluation which takes a key aspect of systemic risk - system wide deleveraging - explicitly into account. Section 5 develops an example using public bank exposure data from the EBA 2016 stress test as well as other public data. The example is simplified in various dimensions with the main aim of demonstrating the application of our ideas. Section 6 concludes.

2 Stress Testing: Basic Concepts

2.1 Stress Tests: Key concepts

A stress test is based on a model of future value changes of a given financial portfolio.¹ The key concepts of a stress testing model are: Risk factors,

¹What the exact nature of the portfolio is in a given stress test depends on the context. In a solvency stress test such as the EBA stress tests, this portfolio are the different assets on a bank's balance sheet. This is the context we will also use in our discussion. If the context is a liquidity stress test, cash flows and liabilities as well as off-balance sheet items will become also relevant.

scenarios, portfolio valuation. We look at stress tests that have a simple inter-temporal structure, with an observation period and a single future time horizon up to which value changes in the portfolio are considered.

Risk factors are the determinants of the value of various positions in the portfolio. For particular positions, such as exposures in securities the choice of the risk factors is fairly obvious. Since securities are marked to market their price changes are the obvious choice. Clearly in practice such a mapping will be somewhat ambiguous. Sometimes an exact mapping between a position and a market price change is not available, sometimes positions are valued by models.

Since lending is a key business of banks, large parts of the bank balance sheet are positions for which no market prices are available. The loan portfolio is usually valued based on actuarial models, such as typical credit risk models (see McNeil et al. [2015]). In these cases risk factors can be either parameters of the actuarial model or underlying variables which are assumed to determine the model parameters.

Scenarios postulate possible future developments of the banks, their portfolios, and their environments. If these entities are modelled to depend on more than one factor, scenarios specify more than one factor. If one wishes to judge the plausibility of such scenarios the joint distribution of these factors is relevant. Most traditional stress tests, however abstain from quantifying the plausibility of scenarios.

Portfolio valuation is the third conceptual ingredient of a stress test. The valuation functions and models are usually composed of various asset pricing models of different complexity, for each of the portfolio positions.

In the remainder of this section we will discuss systematic selection of stress scenarios. In order to do so, we will need a quantification of scenario plausibilities and a concept of scenario versatile enough to handle market and credit risk in their interaction.

2.2 Generalized Scenarios

The distinction between marketable and non-marketable positions is not clear cut in practice. The distinction also does not work in terms of risk. In general, credit risk and market risk interact and can not be separated. The value of an instrument always carries some residual uncertainty. Even in the seemingly certain situation of an instrument maturing exactly at the future time horizon of the stress test, it might happen that the counterparty does not fully fulfil its obligations or that the sell price achieved varies on different markets or that the sell price is subject to a bid-ask spread expressing liquidity risk. For these reasons it is a blunt idealisation to assume that a scenario specifies a unique portfolio value.

In the traditional framework a scenario is represented by a simultaneous realisation of all risk factors and so determines the portfolio value uniquely. In our more general concept we take scenarios to be possible future developments of the banks, their portfolios, and their environments. They do not specify a unique portfolio value but a new distribution of future portfolio values.

We model the risky value of a position or portfolio at some fixed time horizon as

$$V(\mathbb{P}_0) = E_{\mathbb{P}_0}(X),$$

where the payoff X is a random variable on some sample space and \mathbb{P}_0 is the presently estimated risk factor distribution at the time horizon. $E_{\mathbb{P}_0}(X)$ is the presently expected value of X under the distribution \mathbb{P}_0 . The risk factor distribution \mathbb{P}_0 is estimated in the same way as in any risk model, starting from assumptions about the model family, the parameters of the distribution are estimated from historical data.

A scenario is an alternative future development represented by a different distribution \mathbb{Q} changing the model-based value to

$$V(\mathbb{Q}) = E_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$$

This framework naturally accommodates not only market risk but also credit risk, where alternative default probabilities, rating transition probabilities or default correlations are considered. These are properties of distributions.

Example: Credit risk of a loan Suppose the exposure to a particular borrower has a face value f. Suppose there is one risk factor r representing the repayment ability of the borrower at the maturity of the loan. Assume the presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 of r is a standard normal distribution. Let K denote the default threshold for the borrower. When the currently estimated probability of default is p, K is chosen as $K = \Phi^{-1}(p)$. Whenever r falls below this threshold the borrower is insolvent and defaults, repaying only f - lf. (Here l is the loss given default as a percentage of the face value.) Then with respect to \mathbb{P}_0 we would value the loan according to the expected value of its payoff $X(r) = f - lf \mathbf{1}_{(-\infty,K)}(r)$. A generalized scenario is then an alternative distribution \mathbb{Q} with respect to which we would take the expectation of the payoff function.

3 Systematic generalized stress scenarios: Improving Stress Scenario Selection

We call a stress test *systematic* if it provides a procedure for quantifying the plausibility of scenarios and if it considers a complete set of scenarios, i.e. *all* scenarios at or above a given plausibility threshold. In this sense current stress testing practice is not systematic. It refrains from quantifying the plausibility of scenarios. Since it only considers a baseline and one or two adverse scenarios it also looks at a highly incomplete scenario set. The set is incomplete because among a vast number of scenarios with equal plausibility only two are chosen. We propose to do systematic selection of generalized scenarios.

Breuer and Csiszár [2013] measure the plausibility of a generalized scenario \mathbb{Q} by its relative entropy with respect to some presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 , which could be interpreted as a prior distribution. (More generally, one can use various *f*-divergences as measures of plausibility, see Breuer and Csiszár [2016], Csiszár and Breuer [2018]). The presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 often results from assumptions about a model class and a parameter estimation procedure based on historical data. Distributions close enough to \mathbb{P}_0 are plausible alternative scenarios. We admit as plausible enough all distributions for which the relative entropy does not exceed some threshold *k*. The relative entropy of a probability distributions \mathbb{Q} with respect to a presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 is defined as

$$D(\mathbb{Q}||\mathbb{P}_0) := \begin{cases} \int \log \frac{d\mathbb{Q}}{d\mathbb{P}_0}(r)\mathbb{Q}(dr) & \text{if } \mathbb{Q} \ll \mathbb{P}_0\\ +\infty & \text{if } \mathbb{Q} \not\ll \mathbb{P}_0 \end{cases}$$

where $\mathbb{Q} \ll \mathbb{P}_0$ denotes absolute continuity of the distribution \mathbb{Q} with respect to the distribution \mathbb{P}_0 . Relative entropy can be interpreted to quantify similarity of the distributions \mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{P}_0 since $D(\mathbb{Q}||\mathbb{P}_0) \ge 0$ and $D(\mathbb{Q}||\mathbb{P}_0) = 0$ only if $\mathbb{P}_0 = \mathbb{Q}$.

The systematic stress test procedure searches for the worst expected value of the portfolio valuation function among the sufficiently plausible generalized scenearios:

$$\inf_{\substack{\mathbb{Q}: D(\mathbb{Q}||\mathbb{P}_0) \le k}} E_{\mathbb{Q}}(X).$$
(1)

The solution to this problem is a new distribution $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, which we call the *worst* case distribution.

The procedure of determining the worst case distribution \mathbb{Q} improves robustness with respect to the choice of \mathbb{P}_0 . The set $\{\mathbb{Q} : D(\mathbb{Q} || \mathbb{P}_0) \leq k\}$ takes into account not just the risk factor distribution \mathbb{P}_0 , which depends on modelling assumptions and historical data, and which might be prone to estimation errors. It also contains distributions with slightly different parameter values (e.g. different covariance structure) and distributions from different model classes (e.g. t-distributions instead of normals). The solution to problem (1) determines the worst case over all these alternative distributions.

The parameter k is the "radius" of the set $\{\mathbb{Q} : D(\mathbb{Q}||\mathbb{P}_0) \leq k\}$. The larger we choose k, the larger the set of alternative distributions which we are willing to consider in the worst case problem (1), and the lower will be the worst portfolio value resulting in problem (1). The choice of k > 0 is free like the choice of a confidence level (between 0 and 1) for Value at Risk calculations. Instead of recommending general rules for the choice of k, we propose to determine k from a benchmark, namely as the relative entropy of the EBA stress scenario from the EBA baseline scenario.

A key tool to solve problem (1) is the *G*-function, defined as

$$G(X,\theta_2) := \log\left(\int e^{\theta_2 X(r)} \mathbb{P}_0(dr)\right),\tag{2}$$

where θ_2 is a negative real number. If the payoff function X is clear from the context, we will simply write $G(\theta_2)$.

The solution to Problem (1) has the typical form given below if the following assumptions are satisfied:

- (i) If $\operatorname{ess\,inf}(X)$ is finite, assume k is smaller than $k_{\max} := -\log(\mathbb{P}_0(\{r : X(r) = \operatorname{ess\,inf}(X)\})).$
- (ii) Assume $\theta_{\min} := \inf \{ \theta_2 : G(\theta_2) < +\infty \} < 0,$
- (iii) If $\theta_{\min}, G(\theta_{\min})$, and $G'(\theta_{\min})$ are all finite, assume k does not exceed $k_{\max} := \theta_{\min}G'(\theta_{\min}) G(\theta_{\min}).$

Problem (1) can also be solved explicitly in the pathological cases where one or more of the three assumptions are violated. But this is not needed for the present purpose.

Theorem 1 (Breuer and Csiszár [2013]). Under assumptions (i)-(iii) the equation

$$\theta_2 G'(\theta_2) - G(\theta_2) = k \tag{3}$$

has a unique negative solution $\overline{\theta_2}$. The worst case distribution $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ solving (1) is the distribution with \mathbb{P}_0 -density

$$\frac{d\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}{d\mathbb{P}_0}(r) := e^{\overline{\theta_2}X(r) - G(\overline{\theta_2})}.$$
(4)

The minimal expected payoff achieved by the worst case distribution $\mathbb Q$ is

$$G'(\overline{\theta_2}).$$
 (5)

The result provides a practical procedure for calculating MaxLoss in the generic case, which is illustrated in Fig. 1:

- 1. Calculate $G(\theta_2)$ from (2). This involves the evaluation of an *n*-dimensional integral.
- 2. Starting from the point (0, -k), lay a tangent to the curve $G(\theta_2)$.
- 3. The worst expected payoff is given by the slope of the tangent.
- 4. The worst case distribution is the distribution with density (4), where $\overline{\theta_2}$ is the θ_2 -coordinate of the tangent point.



Figure 1: Illustration of Theorem 1: The supporting line has maximum slope $b = (k + G(\theta_2))/\theta_2$ among all lines through (0, -k) that meet \mathcal{G} . This slope is equal to the solution of problem (1).

One possible way to choose k could be for instance to calculate the relative entropy between an estimated current risk factor distribution and a risk factor distribution estimated from times of crisis.

This framework and the procedure for identifying worst case distributions (i.e. searching for worst case scenarios) naturally applies to market portfolios, credit portfolios, and portfolios exposed to both market and credit risk. It allows for a unified treatment of market and credit risk.

Example continued: Credit risk of a loan In this case, where $X(r) = f - lf \mathbf{1}_{(-\infty,K)}(r)$ and p is the currently estimated probability of default, the function $G(\theta_2)$ in (2) equals

$$G(\theta_2) = \log \left[p \exp(\theta_2 f(1-l)) + (1-p) \exp(\theta_2 f) \right].$$
 (6)

For a given k > 0, $\overline{\theta_2}$ results from numerically solving eq. (3), which takes the form

$$\theta_2 \frac{pf(1-l)\exp(\theta_2 f(1-l)) + (1-p)f\exp(\theta_2 f)}{p\exp(\theta_2 f(1-l)) + (1-p)\exp(\theta_2 f)}$$
(7)

$$-\log\left[p\exp(\theta_2 f(1-l)) + (1-p)\exp(\theta_2 f)\right] = k$$
(8)

for θ_2 . The worst expected payoff is

$$G'(\overline{\theta_2}) = \frac{pf(1-l)\exp(\overline{\theta_2}f(1-l)) + (1-p)f\exp(\overline{\theta_2}f)}{p\exp(\overline{\theta_2}f(1-l)) + (1-p)\exp(\overline{\theta_2}f)}.$$

As a numerical example consider a loan with loss given default l = 0.5, and an estimated probability of default p = 0.1. If the face value of the exposure is f = 1, the expected payoff of this loan under the estimated probability of default equals 0.95. For k = 0.1 the numerical solution to (3) is $\overline{\theta_2} = -2.27$. The worst expected payoff at the plausibility level k = 0.1 equals 0.87 (compared to 0.95 under the reference default probability). Whereas the reference payment ability distribution \mathbb{P}_0 results in the estimated default probability of p = 0.1, the worst case payment ability distribution implies a default probability of 0.257. (This is the probability mass of the worst case distribution up to the threshold $K = \Phi^{-1}(0.1) = -1.28$.) The density of the worst case distribution, given by (4), is plotted against the density of the presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 in Fig. 2.



Figure 2: Density of presently estimated distribution \mathbb{P}_0 (blue) and worst case distribution $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ (yellow) of the repayment ability of the borrower.

In Section 5 we will use a credit risk model based on the same idea. But there, several loans with different estimated PDs depend on the same risk factor, so there will be several thresholds. Furthermore the loan portfolios there depend on more than one risk factor, namely one for each sector. Instead of Fig. 2 the worst case density looks as in Fig. 3. Why is systematic selection of generalized scenarios an improvement over the current approach? The main advantage is that we have actually described the most detrimental outcome, once we have agreed on the risk factors, the plausibility threshold k and the payoff function according to which we rank payoffs without discarding outcomes that are at least equally plausible. The discussion about how to set k will raise the awareness about the plausibility of stress scenarios we want to concentrate on. An advantage that comes as a consequence is that the process of scenario selection will not only be more systematic, it will also become less prone to political influence. We still need a process that discusses where to set the plausibility threshold k. But once this decision is taken there will be no further meddling with the scenarios. Finally, thinking in generalized scenarios will allow for a consistent and easy joint treatment of market and credit risk as well as their interaction at a common time horizon.

4 Taking into account systemic risk: Improving loss assessment

Systemic risk stems from the interaction of banks. When interactions are taken into account, losses are often substantially amplified as compared to an analysis based exclusively on exogenous sources of risk. In his analysis of the great financial crisis Hellwig [2009] describes the repeated (huge) errors made by the authorities in estimating the losses that might be faced as the crisis unfolded. These errors had their root in underestimating the impacts of system wide deleveraging by banks.

For incorporating such amplifying effects on losses in a tractable, empirical way we would like to draw on recent work by Cont and Schaanning [2016]² who analyse the deleveraging dynamics of a banking system in a practical yet credible way.

We believe that this kind of analysis could be integrated into an otherwise standard stress testing framework (with or without generalized scenarios) to think about how loss assumptions might be amplified by the banking system.

The main additional ingredient in a deleveraging model is to add some assumptions on bank behavior and a model of price impact. Assuming that banks have an explicitly or implicitly given threshold of a maximal tolerable leverage which they need to maintain for unimpaired operations, we can ask for each exogenous loss whether this could force the bank to sell some part of its marketable assets to restore its acceptable leverage. Assuming that asset sales will occur proportionally accross different marketable asset classes, we can draw on models of price impact from the market micro

 $^{^{2}}$ See also Duarte and Eisenbach [2013] and Greenwood et al. [2015]. We would also like to point out the paper by Braouezec and Wagalath [forthcoming], who analyse the single bank case.

structure literature (see Kyle [1985], Obizhaeva [2012], Beritsmas and Lo [1998], Almgren and Chriss [2000], Cont et al. [2014]) to gauge potential drops in the value of marketable assets which will perhaps trigger further rounds of sales.

Price impact modelling assumes for each asset class in the portfolio an impact function Ψ , which maps liquidation amounts q into a relative price change of the asset class. The impact function is assumed to be increasing, concave and satisfying $\Psi(0) = 0$. A common specification is a linear impact function of the form

$$\Psi(q) = \frac{q}{D}$$
 with $D = c \frac{ADV}{\sigma}$

where ADV is average daily volume of the asset traded and σ is the volatility of the asset price. For a given liquidation horizon τ , D has to be multiplied by $\sqrt{\tau}$.³ Thus the price impact in an asset class is large when average daily turnover is low, volatility is high and the liquidation horizon is short.

This concept can be used in a stress test to assess potential amplification effects of losses: When an institution has to liquidate an amount q of a particular asset with a current price S, this will depress the asset price to $S' = S(1 - \Psi(q))$. This in turn will lower the value of all marketable assets of this class and perhaps induce further sales. Note that this does not require a fully fledged equilibrium analysis. The modeller can choose how many potential rounds of deleveraging he would like to consider. We refer for all details of the fire sale models to the paper of Cont and Schaanning [2016].

5 An EBA-based example

We now apply our ideas to a real world data set, using data from the EBA stress tests and other sources.

5.1 Systematic scenario search

We perform a systematic stress test for a subset of the EBA risk factors, namely the exposure of the 51 EBA banks to the residential Spanish and Italian real estate sectors. (This application is just an example, our methods work for other, larger subsets of risk factors.)

In our model of credit risk for residential mortgages, which is a firm value or threshold model (see McNeil et al. [2015]), we choose house price indices from the the property price statistics of the BIS⁴ as risk factors. Clearly in reality house prices are not the only (often even not the decisive) risk factors for credit risk of residential exposures. A realistic model approximation to

 $^{^{3}}$ A thorough discussion of how these formulas are derived and when they can be meaningfully applied, see Cont et al. [2014].

⁴See https://www.bis.org/statistics/pp.htm

the credit risk of European and international residential exposures taking into account the institutional heterogeneity of mortgage lending, would need a separate study.

The nominal exposures of each of the 51 EBA banks to the two risk factors are from the EBA stress test results and followed by the same processing as in Cont and Schaanning [2016] in order to handle overlaps and ensure the balance sheet identities. The structure of the total balance sheet of the 51 EBA banks is given in Table 1.

The data allow for the construction of a stylised balance sheet for each of the 51 banks included in the EBA sample. Assets are split in assets that can be sold on markets, like sovereign and corporate bonds and assets that are not (or not easily) marketable, like loans. The distinction between non-marketable and marketable assets plays an important role in fire sales situations. Fig. 7 shows the share of marketable assets in total assets across the 51 EBA banks. For each bank the rest of the total assets are non-marketable.

Within these categories assets with exposure to a particular country are considered as one asset class. So we have, for instance, for each of the 51 banks residential exposures in Austria, Belgium etc. and in the same way for all other assets. In this way we construct in total 122 asset classes in marketable assets, covering country exposures around the world. These are in our case corporate and government bonds. We have 123 non-marketable asset classes, residential lending to households and loans to enterprises. In addition we add a residual position of exposures to the non-marketable assets. The numbers shown in Table 1 are the numbers from the EBA data, where the residual category is added to the non-marketable assets. The numbers show the aggregates across all asset classes and across all banks.⁵

Risk factors and portfolio valuation function In our numerical example we focus on a systematic stress of N = 2 sectors, namely the Spanish and Italian residential property sectors. So for the two risk factors we choose r_{ES} , the Spanish residential property price index of the BIS, and r_{IT} the corresponding index for Italy.

For the EBA stress scenario, and for the worst case scenario at the same plausibility level as the EBA stress scenario, the estimated probabilities of default of bank exposures in the two sectors (denoted further down by p_{in}) are backed out from the EBA data on loan portfolio impairments: Given the nominal exposure of each bank in the two sectors, an estimated probability of default can be backed out from the impairment assuming a loss given default ratio l = 45%. The results are displayed in Fig. 4: For all banks and

⁵The EBA data contain some overlaps which prevent that individual positions add up exactly to the reported totals. This requires some adjustments and therefore lead to a residual position to guarantee balance sheet identity. Our adjustments follow the example of Cont and Schaanning [2016].

Aggregate balance sheet of the 51 EBA banks					
Assets		Liabilities			
Maketable assets	€7270 Billion	\mathbf{Debt}	€24951 Billion		
- Corporate bonds AA					
÷					
- Corporate bonds ZZ					
- Sovereign bonds AA					
÷					
- Sovereign bonds ZZ					
Non-marketable assets	\in 19049 Billion				
- Residential exposures AA					
÷					
- Residential exposures ZZ					
- Commercial exposures AA					
÷					
- Commercial exposures ZZ		Equity	€1368 Billion		
Total	€26319 Billion	Total	€26319 Billion		

Table 1: A stylized bank balance sheet. Marketable assets can be valued usingmarket prices, non-marketable assets can be valued only indirectly using an actuarialmodel. The numbers are aggregates over all 51 banks from the EBA data.

for both sectors, PDs in the worst case scenario are higher than PDs in the EBA stress scenario.

The loan of bank *i* to sector *n*, whose face value is denoted by f_{in} , defaults if his risk factor r_n drops below a default threshold $K_{in} = \Phi_n^{-1}(p_{in})$, where Φ_n^{-1} is the inverse of the marginal distribution of r_n derived by integrating the density of $N(\mu, \Sigma)$ over the variables $r_1, \ldots, r_{n-1}, r_{n+1}, \ldots, r_N$. For the two sectors the estimates of Σ and μ from the appropriate BIS time series are $\Sigma = ((16.71, 3.20), (3.20, 2.23))$ and $\mu = (241.3, 155.1)$. The time window we used was 1971Q1–2017Q2.

The final payoff to bank i is

$$X_i(r_1, \dots, r_N) = \sum_{n=1}^N f_{in} \left(1 - l \mathbf{1}_{(-\infty, K_{in})}(r_n) \right).$$
(9)

The final value of loans given by the total banking system is

$$X(r_1, \dots, r_N) = \sum_{i=1}^{I} X_i(r_1, \dots, r_N).$$
 (10)

The final value of all loans given by the total banking system is the objective function which determines the worst case distribution for the system. Formally it would be possible to take other objective functions, as for example the number of banks defaulting. (Although it makes a difference whether a small bank defaults or a large one.) Alternatively, one could take as objective function the asset value destroyed by fire sales. (But this reflects only losses in marketable securities.) Or, one could take as objective function the total value of the banking system after fire sales. This would be conceptually most gratifying, but the solution is a mathematical challenge.

To get the worst expected value of the loan portfolio at a plausibility level k, enter $X(r_1, \ldots, r_N)$ of (10) into (3) to get the *G*-function, solve equation (3) to get $\overline{\theta_2}$. The worst expected value of the banking system is $G'(\overline{\theta_2})$, and the density of the worst case distribution of the risk factors r_1, \ldots, r_N is given by (4).

EBA stress scenario versus Worst case stress scenario Fig. 4 shows the probabilities of default for residential exposures in Spain (left) and residential exposures in Italy (right) for all 51 EBA banks. The PDs in the EBA stress scenario are shown as red dots, the PDs in the Worst Case scenario of equal plausibility are shown in blue dots. For all banks and for both sectors, PDs in the worst case scenario are higher than PDs in the EBA stress scenario, although the two scenarios have the same plausibility with respect to the EBA baseline scenario. (The plausibility of the EBA stress scenario with respect to the EBA baseline scenario equals k = 0.04. The procedure of this calculation is described in Appendix A.



Figure 3: Worst case distribution (left) and presently estimated distribution (right) of the system loan portfolio. Sector payment abilities r_1, r_2 below the default thresholds K_{in} get higher weight than in the normal presently estimated distribution.



Figure 4: Probabilities of default for residential exposures in Spain (left) and residential exposures in Italy (right) for all 51 EBA banks. The PDs in the EBA stress scenario are shown as red dots, the PDs in the Worst Case scenario of equal plausibility are shown in blue dots. For all banks and for both sectors, PDs in the worst case scenario are higher than PDs in the EBA stress scenario.



Figure 5: Shares of losses that come from the initial shock and from subsequent fire sales, for each of the 51 EBA banks. We see that fire sale losses are potentially important.

5.2 Fire sales

In the last part we ask whether the addition of fire sales would significantly amplify the losses in the EBA-scenario as well as in the worst case scenario. While the example is very stylised and not particularly realistic we hope that it illustrates how to work with generalized scenarios and to give an impression about the differences in quantitative effects we get from traditional versus worst case scenario search. A first impression of the potential importance of deleveraging is conveyed by Fig. 5.

Initial Exposures To get an impression of the data we look in Fig. 6 at the distribution of leverage among the 51 banks in the EBA dataset. Leverage is defined here as the ratio of the value of total (marketable and non-marketable assets over Tier 1 capital.)

The leverage distribution shows that on average banks in the sample are at around a value of Tier 1 capital of about 5% of total assets, with a few banks with worse and quite a number of banks with a significantly better capitalisation.

Figure 7 shows the distribution of the aggregate values over asset classes of marketable and non-marketable assets as percentage of total assets across the 51 banks. This shows that in terms of asset classes, lending to enterprises and households (the main non-marketable assets) is the most important



Figure 6: Distribution of Leverage across the 51 Banks in the EBA sample. The average leverage ratio is indicated by a dotted red line. It is near a value of 20 or 5 % Tier 1 capital.

business line. Holdings of marketable assets are for most banks substantially lower.

Deleveraging and Loss Amplification We finally ask, whether losses coming from expected defaults on residential exposures in Spain and Italy might induce deleveraging and price impacts. The answer of course depends on a number of assumptions about bank deleveraging behavior and the corresponding price impact. We use the Cont Schaanning model (Cont and Schaanning [2016]) and their data on average daily volumes of government and corporate bonds as well as the volatility of their respective price indices.

If the maximum leverage a bank is willing to tolerate before selling any of its marketable assets is high enough, there will be no deleveraging. In Cont and Schaanning [2016] the maximum leverage ratio is assumed to be 33 and a target ratio of 32, which corresponds to a Tier 1 capital of about 3%. At this critical level, there is one bank in the sample which would even without a shock sell a certain amount of its marketable assets to come back to target. Otherwise in this parametrisation, neither the EBA stress scenario nor the worst case scenario would kick off a deleveraging process that reaches beyond the bank which was initially over-leveraged.

When the maximum leverage is a bit tighter, say at 4% of Tier 1 capital, and the target leverage is set to 95% of the maximum leverage, the effects would look differently. At this tighter target, fire sales would occur for more than ten banks. This can be seen in Fig. 8.



Figure 7: Share of marketable assets in total assets across the 51 EBA banks. For each bank the rest of the total assets are non-marketable.



Figure 8: Looking at 10 rounds of deleveraging we see that initially there is a fire sale by 3 banks, which rises to 5 banks in round 3 and then even further to 12 and 15 banks. Then some banks manage to stabilise while 12 banks even after 10 rounds of deleveraging have not managed to restore their target.

When we look at losses it matters a great deal whether we look at potential deleveraging spirals or not. In Fig. 5 we compare the shares of total losses from the initial stress scenario plus the potential deleveraging process and compare the share these losses have in total losses.

We see that, if a deleveraging process occurs, the share in losses from deleveraging is for most banks higher than losses from the initial shock. Of course this is conditional on the fact that deleveraging occurs in the first place. We saw that with a leverage threshold of 25 we can get already significant deleveraging losses. Taking fire selling into account is potentially important for the evaluation of losses.

To get an impression of what deleveraging does to the price indices of the 122 marketable asset classes considered in our example we look at a histogram of changes (drops) in the Index value. This is shown in Fig. 9.



Figure 9: Price changes in marketable asset classes triggered by deleveraging, . Most asset classes show little price changes, while there are a few with extreme drops.

Overall our example suggests that the analysis of deleveraging or second round effects might be very important in the assessment of losses. The question of which is the most useful and most credible quantitative model of deleveraging is at the moment still very much open. The price impact model we use here draws on the market micro structure literature, where it was mainly used in empirical analysis of order book dynamics. Under which exact circumstances these methods fit very well to the context of a stress test needs further research.

6 Conclusions

The methodology of current stress testing is problematic both in the way stress scenarios are chosen and in the way bank losses are evaluated. While most research resources in stress testing over the last ten years have been invested in constructing very detailed models of portfolio loss functions, and in constructing statistical-econometric models that translate very broadly formulated macroeconomic scenarios to the actual risk parameters of portfolios, scenario selection and inclusion of systemic risk has been somewhat neglected.

Our paper calls for changing the focus in stress testing on systematic scenario selection and on the consideration of loss amplification by systemic risk. The reason is that otherwise, stress tests will be weak in answering the key questions: "Which scenarios lead to big losses?" and "How big are the worst losses?".

Specifically we propose to work with generalized scenarios. We argue that it is useful to think about scenarios as distributions rather than realisations. This allows for an integrated analysis of market and credit risk at a common time horizon. Systematic scenario selection is achieved by an appropriate form of worst case search over plausibility domains. This method finds among all equally plausible scenarios the scenario leading to the worst expected loss for any given portfolio.

For making stress tests more systemic, we propose an integration of recent results on the quantitative modelling of deleveraging processes with our approach to systematic scenario search. Rather than going for a fully fledged equilibrium analysis and sophisticated behavioural modelling, we advocate an approach that makes use of describing the very limited options a bank has in distress at a short time horizon plus tools from market micro structure literature to assess price impact.

We believe that our proposals can be implemented in a fairly straightforward way without drawing on exotic or new data sources. Our example gives ideas about how such an approach might work in a more or less traditional top down stress testing setup. We hope that our ideas provide foundations for future stress tests to become more systematic and systemic.

References

- R. Almgren and N. Chriss. Optimal executions of portfolio transactions. Journal of Risk, 3:5 – 39, 2000.
- P. Artzner, F. Delbaen, J. Ebner, and D. Heath. Coherent measures of risk. Mathematical Finance, 9:203–228, 1999.
- D. Beritsmas and A. Lo. Optimal control of execution costs. Journal of Financial Markets, 1(1):1–50, 1998.
- Y. Braouezec and L. Wagalath. Risk based capital requirements and optimal liquidation in a stress scenario. *Review of Finance*, forthcoming.
- T. Breuer and I. Csiszár. Systematic stress tests with entropic plausibility constraints. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 37:1552–1559, 2013.
- T. Breuer and I. Csiszár. Measuring distribution model risk. Mathematical Finance, 26:395–411, 2016.
- T. Breuer and G. Krenn. Stress testing. Guidelines on Market Risk 5, Oesterreichische Nationalbank, Vienna, 1999. Also available at http: //www.oenb.at/en/img/band5ev40_tcm16-20475.pdf.
- R. Cont and E. Schaanning. Fire sales, indirect contagion and systemic stress testing. Technical report, Imperial College London, 2016. URL ssrn.com/abstract=2541114.
- R. Cont and L. Wagalath. Running for the exit: Distressed selling and endogenous correlation in financial markets. *Mathematical Finance*, 23(4): 718–741, 2013.
- R. Cont and L. Wagalath. Fire sales forensics: Measuring endogenous risk. Mathematical Finance, 26(4):835–866, 2016.
- R. Cont, A. Kukanov, and S. Stoikov. The price impact of order book events. Journal of Financial Econometrics, 12(1):47–88, 2014.
- T. M. Cover and J. A. Thomas. *Elements of Information Theory*. Wiley Series in Telecommunications and Signal Processing. Wiley, 2nd edition, 2006.
- I. Csiszár and T. Breuer. Expected value minimization in information theoretic multiple priors models. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 64(6):3957–3974, 2018.
- F. Duarte and T. Eisenbach. Fire sales spillovers and systemic risk. Federal Reserve Bank of New York Staff Report, (645), 2013.

- M. Flood and G. Korenko. Systematic scenario selection: stress testing and the nature of uncertainty. *Quantitative Finance*, 15(1):43 59, 2015.
- J.-P. Fouque and J. Langsam, editors. Handbook of Systemic Risk. Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- P. Glassermann, C. Kang, and W. Kang. Stress scenario selection by empirical likelihood. *Quantitative Finance*, pages 1 – 16, 2014.
- R. Greenwood, A. Landier, and D. Thesmar. Vulnerable banks. Journal of Financial Economics, 115(3):471 – 485, 2015.
- M. Hellwig. Systemic risk in the financial sector: An analysis of the subprimemortgage financial crisis. De Economist, 157(2):129–207, 2009.
- A. Kyle. Continuous auctions and insider trading. *Econometrica*, 53(6):1315 1335, 1985.
- A. McNeil, R. Frey, and P. Embrechts. *Quantitative Risk Management*. Princeton University Press, 2015.
- A. Obizhaeva. Liquidity estimates and selection bias. Working paper, 2012. URL http://ssrn.com/abstract=1178722.
- G. Studer. Maximum Loss for Measurement of Market Risk. Dissertation, ETH Zürich, Zürich, 1997. Also available as http://www.gloriamundi. org/picsresources/gsmlm.pdf.
- G. Studer. Market risk computation for nonlinear portfolios. *Journal of Risk*, 1(4):33–53, 1999.

A How plausible is the EBA stress scenario relative to the EBA baseline scenario?

For banks i = 1, ..., I and sectors n = 1, ..., N the exposures f_{in} are given. Also for the EBA baseline scenario (call it Q) and the EBA stress scenario (call it P) we are given the PDs of the exposure of bank i in sector n: pd_{in}^Q, pd_{in}^P . Also given are time series for the sector values.

- 1. For both scenarios P, Q, construct the marginals of N-dimensional distributions described by the differences q_i^n, p_i^n of ordered PDs (so that $\sum_{i=0}^{I} p_i^n = 1$, $\sum_{i=0}^{I} q_i^n = 1$ for all n).
- 2. For the baseline scenario Q calculate the *N*-dimensional distribution Q^* from the given marginals q^n by taking the Maximum Entropy distribution with respect to the given marginals, see Cover and Thomas [2006, Chap. 12].

- 3. For the stress scenario P, from the marginals p^n calculate the *N*-dimensional distribution P^* having minimal relative entropy with respect to Q^* .
- 4. We take the plausibility of the EBA stress scenario with respect to the EBA baseline scenario to be the relative entropy $D(P^*||Q^*)$.

Index of Working Papers:

June 15, 2015	Anil Ari	202	Sovereign Risk and Bank Risk-Taking
June 15, 2015	Matteo Crosignani	203	Why Are Banks Not Recapitalized During Crises?
February 19, 2016	Burkhard Raunig	204	Background Indicators
February 22, 2016	Jesús Crespo Cuaresma, Gernot Doppelhofer, Martin Feldkircher, Florian Huber	205	US Monetary Policy in a Globalized World
March 4, 2016	Helmut Elsinger, Philipp Schmidt- Dengler, Christine Zulehner	206	Competition in Treasury Auctions
May 14, 2016	Apostolos Thomadakis	207	Determinants of Credit Constrained Firms: Evidence from Central and Eastern Europe Region
July 1, 2016	Martin Feldkircher, Florian Huber	208	Unconventional US Monetary Policy: New Tools Same Channels?
November 24, 2016	François de Soyres	209	Value Added and Productivity Linkages Across Countries
November 25, 2016	Maria Coelho	210	Fiscal Stimulus in a Monetary Union: Evidence from Eurozone Regions
January 9, 2017	Markus Knell, Helmut Stix	211	Inequality, Perception Biases and Trust
January 31, 2017	Steve Ambler, Fabio Rumler	212	The Effectiveness of Unconventional Monetary Policy Announcements in the Euro Area: An Event and Econometric Study
May 29, 2017	Filippo De Marco	213	Bank Lending and the European Sovereign Debt Crisis
June 1, 2017	Jean-Marie Meier	214	Regulatory Integration of International Capital Markets

October 13, 2017	Markus Knell	215	Actuarial Deductions for Early Retirement
October 16, 2017	Markus Knell, Helmut Stix	216	Perceptions of Inequality
November 17, 2017	Engelbert J. Dockner, Manuel Mayer, Josef Zechner	217	Sovereign Bond Risk Premiums
December 1, 2017	Stefan Niemann, Paul Pichler	218	Optimal fiscal policy and sovereign debt crises
January 17, 2018	Burkhard Raunig	219	Economic Policy Uncertainty and the Volatility of Sovereign CDS Spreads
February 21, 2018	Andrej Cupak, Pirmin Fessler, Maria Silgoner, Elisabeth Ulbrich	220	Exploring differences in financial literacy across countries: the role of individual characteristics and institutions
May 15, 2018	Peter Lindner, Axel Loeffler, Esther Segalla, Guzel Valitova, Ursula Vogel	221	International monetary policy spillovers through the bank funding channel
May 23, 2018	Christian A. Belabed, Mariya Hake	222	Income inequality and trust in national governments in Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe
October 16, 2018	Pirmin Fessler, Martin Schürz	223	The functions of wealth: renters, owners and capitalists across Europe and the United States
October 24, 2018	Philipp Poyntner, Thomas Reininger	224	Bail-in and Legacy Assets: Harmonized rules for targeted partial compensation to strengthen the bail-in regime
Dezember 14, 2018	Thomas Breuer, Martin Summer	225	Systematic Systemic Stress Tests